
Fort Hood shooting

Fort Hood Police SWAT responds to the shooting

Location of the main cantonment of Fort Hood in

Bell County

Location Fort Hood, Texas, U.S.

Coordinates 31°8′33″N 97°47′47″W

Date November 5, 2009

c. 1:34 p.m.-c. 1:44 p.m. (CST)

Attack type Mass murder

Weapon(s)
FN Five-seven pistol

Smith & Wesson .357

Magnum revolver

Deaths 13[1]

Non-fatal
injuries

30+

Perpetrator Major Nidal Malik Hasan

Motive Jihad
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On November 5, 2009, a mass murder took place at Fort

Hood, near Killeen, Texas.[1] Nidal Malik Hasan, a U.S.
Army major and psychiatrist, fatally shot 13 people and

injured more than 30 others.[2][3] It is the worst shooting ever

to take place on an American military base.[4][5] Several

individuals, including Senator Joe Lieberman,[6] General

Barry McCaffrey,[7] and others have called the event a

terrorist attack.[8][9] The United States Department of
Defense and federal law enforcement agencies have

classified the shootings as an act of workplace violence.[10]

Hasan was shot and as a result is paralyzed from the waist

down.[11] Hasan was arraigned by a military court on July 20,
2011 and was charged with 13 counts of premeditated murder
and 32 counts of attempted murder under the Uniform Code
of Military Justice. His court-martial began on August 7,
2013. Due to the nature of the charges (more than one
premeditated, or first-degree, murder case, in a single crime),
Hasan faced either the death penalty or life in prison without

parole upon conviction.[12][13] Hasan was found guilty on all
13 counts of premeditated murder and 32 counts of attempted
premeditated murder on August 23, 2013, and was sentenced
to death on August 28, 2013.

Days after the shooting, reports in the media revealed that a
Joint Terrorism Task Force had been aware of a series of
e-mails between Hasan and the Yemen-based imam Anwar
al-Awlaki, who had been monitored by the NSA as a security
threat, and that Hasan's colleagues had been aware of his
increasing radicalization for several years. The failure to
prevent the shootings led the Defense Department and the
FBI to commission investigations, and Congress to hold
hearings.

The U.S. Government has declined requests from survivors
and family members of the slain to categorize the Fort Hood
shooting as act of terrorism, or motivated by militant Islamic

religious convictions.[14] In November 2011, a group of
survivors and family members filed a lawsuit against the
government for negligence in preventing the attack, and to
force the government to classify the shootings as terrorism.
The Pentagon has argued that charging Hasan with terrorism is not possible within military justice and that even
having the government classify the shootings as terrorism would harm the ability of the military prosecutors to

sustain a guilty verdict against Hasan.[10]
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An FN Five-seven pistol similar to that

used by Hasan[15]
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Preparations

According to pretrial testimony, Hasan entered the Guns Galore store in
Killeen on July 31, 2009, and purchased the FN Five-seven
semi-automatic pistol that he was to use in the attack at Fort Hood.
According to Army Specialist William Gilbert, a regular customer at the
store, Hasan entered the store and asked for "the most technologically
advanced weapon on the market and the one with the highest standard
magazine capacity." Hasan was allegedly asked how he intended to use
the weapon, but simply repeated that he wanted the most advanced

handgun with the largest magazine capacity.[16] The three people with

Hasan—Gilbert, the store manager, and an employee—all recommended the FN Five-seven pistol.[17] As

Gilbert owned one of the pistols, he spent an hour describing its operation to Hasan.[18]
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Bystanders take cover as shots ring out

from the Soldier Readiness Processing

Center.

Map of Fort Hood, with a red dot

marking the Soldier Readiness

Processing Center

A shooting victim being transported to

a waiting ambulance

Hasan left the store, saying he needed to research the weapon.[18] He returned to purchase the gun the next day,
and visited the store once a week to buy extra magazines, along with hundreds of rounds of 5.7×28mm SS192

and SS197SR ammunition.[17] In the weeks prior to the attack, Hasan visited an outdoor shooting range in

Florence, where he allegedly became adept at hitting silhouette targets at distances of up to 100 yards.[16]

Soldier Readiness Processing Center shootings

At approximately 1:34 p.m. local time, November 5 2009, Hasan entered
his workplace, the Soldier Readiness Processing Center, where personnel
receive routine medical treatment immediately prior to and on return
from deployment. He was armed with the FN Five-seven pistol, which he

had fitted with two Lasermax laser sights: one red, and one green.[19][20]

A Smith & Wesson .357 Magnum revolver (an older model) was later
found on Hasan's person, but he did not use it to shoot any of the

victims.[15][21]

According to eyewitnesses, Hasan had taken a seat at an empty table and
bowed his head for several seconds when he suddenly stood up, shouted

"Allahu Akbar!" and opened fire.[22][23][24] Witnesses said Hasan
initially "sprayed bullets at soldiers in a fanlike motion" before taking

aim at individual soldiers.[25] Eyewitness Sgt. Michael Davis said: "The
rate of fire was pretty much constant shooting. When I initially heard it,

it sounded like an M16."[26]

Army reserve Captain John Gaffaney tried to stop Hasan by charging

him, but was mortally wounded before reaching him.[27] Civilian
physician assistant Michael Cahill also tried to charge Hasan with a

chair, but was shot and killed.[28] Army reserve Specialist Logan Burnett
tried to stop Hasan by throwing a folding table at him, but he was shot in

the left hip, fell down, and crawled to a nearby cubicle.[29]

According to testimony from witnesses, Hasan passed up several
opportunities to shoot civilians, and instead targeted soldiers in

uniform,[30] who were not carrying personal firearms in accordance with

military policy.[31] At one point, Hasan reportedly approached a group

of five civilians hiding under a desk.[32] He looked at them, swept the
dot of his pistol's laser sight over one of the men's faces, and turned

away without firing.[32]

Base civilian police Sergeant Kimberly Munley, who had rushed to the scene in her patrol car, encountered

Hasan in the area outside the Soldier Readiness Processing Center.[33] Hasan fired at Munley, who exchanged
shots with him using her 9mm M9 pistol. Munley's hand was hit by shrapnel when one of Hasan's bullets struck
a nearby rain gutter, and then two bullets struck Munley: the first bullet hit her thigh, and the second hit her

knee.[20][30] As she began to fall from the first bullet, the second bullet struck her femur, shattering it and

knocking her to the ground.[20][30] Hasan walked up to Munley and kicked her pistol out of reach.[34]

As the shooting continued outside, nurses and medics entered the building, secured the doors with a belt and
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rushed to help the wounded.[35] According to the responding nurses, there was so much blood covering the floor
inside the building, that they were unable to maintain balance, and had difficulty reaching the wounded to help

them.[36] In the area outside the building, Hasan continued to shoot at fleeing soldiers, and civilian police

Sergeant Mark Todd arrived and shouted commands at Hasan to surrender.[30] Todd said: "Then he turned and

fired a couple of rounds at me. I didn't hear him say a word, he just turned and fired."[37] The two exchanged

shots, and Hasan was felled by five shots from Todd,[3][38] who kicked the pistol out of his hand and put

handcuffs on him as he fell unconscious.[39]

Aftermath

An investigator later testified that 146 spent shell casings were recovered inside the building.[34] Another 68
casings were collected outside, for a total of 214 rounds fired by the attacker and responding police officers.
[34][40] A medic who treated Hasan said his pockets were full of pistol magazines.[41] When the shooting ended,
he was still carrying 177 rounds of unfired ammunition in his pockets, contained in both 20- and 30-round

magazines.[34] The incident, which lasted about 10 minutes,[42] resulted in 13 killed—12 soldiers and one

civilian; 11 died at the scene, and two died later in a hospital; and 30 people wounded.[43][44]

Initially, officials thought three soldiers were involved in the shooting;[45] two other soldiers were detained, but
subsequently released. The Fort Hood website posted a notice indicating that the shooting was not a drill.
Immediately after the shooting, the base and surrounding areas were locked down by military police and U.S.

Army Criminal Investigation Command (CID) until around 7 pm local time.[46] In addition, Texas Rangers,

Texas DPS troopers,[47] deputies from the Bell County Sheriff's Office, and FBI agents from Austin and Waco

were dispatched to the base.[48] US President Barack Obama was briefed on the incident and later made a

statement about the shooting.[49]

On November 5, 2010, one year later, 52 individuals received awards for their actions in the shooting.[50] The
Soldier's Medal was awarded to 10 soldiers, including Captain John Gaffaney, who died trying to charge the

shooter.[51] The Secretary of the Army Award for Valor was awarded to police officers Kimberly Munley and

Mark Todd, for the roles they played in stopping the shooter.[50] On May 23, 2011, the Army Award for Valor
was posthumously awarded to the civilian physician assistant Michael Cahill, who died trying to charge the

shooter with a chair.[52] In May 2012, Senator Joe Lieberman and Representative Peter T. King proposed

legislation that would make the victims of the shooting eligible for the Purple Heart.[53] In the 113th Congress,
Representative John Carter introduced legislation to change the shooting designation from "workplace violence"
to "combat related" which would make the victims of the shooting eligible to receive full benefits and the Purple

Heart.[54]

Thirteen people were slain in the attack. Over thirty people were wounded; some from gunshots, others from
falls or other injuries incurred during the incident, and many suffered psychological trauma or shock. The Army,
press, and investigative bodies have reported several numbers for the total number of injured, without indicating

what sorts of injuries they were counting, nor how: 29;[55] 30;[1][56][57] 31;[58][59] 32;[60][61][62] 38;[57] and

42.[63]:1 Fort Hood is the most populous U.S. military installation in the world.[64]

Hasan, the gunman, was taken to Scott and White Memorial Hospital, a trauma center in Temple, Texas, and
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First responders prepare the wounded

for transport in waiting ambulances

outside Fort Hood's Soldier Readiness

Processing Center.

Transfer cases containing the remains

of soldiers killed in the shooting being

loaded aboard an aircraft for flight to

Dover Air Force Base

later moved to Brooke Army Medical Center in San Antonio, Texas,

where he was held under heavy guard.[11] Hasan was hit by at least four

shots.[65] As a result of bullet wounds to his spine, he is now

paraplegic.[11] He was later held at the Bell County jail in Belton, Texas.

Ten of the injured were also treated at Scott and White.[66] Seven
wounded victims were taken to Metroplex Adventist Hospital in

Killeen.[66] Eight others received hospital treatment for shock.[67] On
November 20, 2009, it was announced that eight of the wounded service

members would deploy overseas.[68]

Fatalities

The 13 killed were:
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Name Age Hometown Rank/occupation Notes

Michael Grant
Cahill[69] 62

Spokane,
Washington

Civilian Physician
Assistant

Shot while trying to charge the
shooter[52]

Libardo Eduardo
Caraveo[70] 52

Woodbridge,
Virginia

Major

Justin Michael
DeCrow[71][72] 32 Plymouth, Indiana Staff Sergeant Shot in the chest

John P. Gaffaney[73] 56
Serra Mesa,
California Captain[74] Shot while trying to charge the

shooter[27]

Frederick Greene[69] 29
Mountain City,
Tennessee

Specialist
Shot while trying to charge the
shooter[75]

Jason Dean
Hunt[69][76] 22 Tipton, Oklahoma Specialist Shot in the back

Amy Sue
Krueger[69][77] 29 Kiel, Wisconsin Staff Sergeant Shot in the chest

Aaron Thomas
Nemelka[69][78] 19 West Jordan, Utah Private First Class Shot in the chest

Michael S.
Pearson[69][79] 22

Bolingbrook,
Illinois

Private First Class Shot in the chest

Russell Gilbert
Seager[80] 51 Racine, Wisconsin Captain[81]

Francheska
Velez[77][82] 21 Chicago, Illinois Private First Class

Shot in the chest. Was pregnant when
killed, and the baby also died.[83]

Juanita L.
Warman[80][84] 55

Pittsburgh,
Pennsylvania Lieutenant Colonel[85] Shot in the abdomen

Kham See
Xiong[69][86] 23

Saint Paul,
Minnesota

Private First Class Shot in the head

Gunshot wounds

The following people suffered gunshot wounds and survived:
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Count Name Rank/occupation Notes

1 James Armstrong[87][88]:60, ¶129 Specialist Shot in the leg

2 Patrick Blue III[89] Sergeant Not shot, but hit in the side by bullet fragments

3 Keara Bono Torkelson[90][91] Specialist Shot in the shoulder and grazed in the head

4 Logan M. Burnett[88]:61, ¶131 [89] Specialist Shot in the hip, left elbow, and hand

5 Alan Carroll[92] Specialist
Shot in the upper right arm, right bicep, left side
of back, and left leg

6 Dorothy Carskadon[88]:61, ¶132 [89] Captain
Shot in the leg, hip, and stomach, and grazed on
the forehead; permanently disabled.

7 Joy Clark[93] Staff Sergeant Shot in the forearm

8 Matthew D. Cooke[88]:62, ¶133[94] Specialist

9 Chad Davis[95] Staff Sergeant Shot in the shoulder

10 Mick Engnehl[88]:62, ¶134[96] Private Shot in the shoulder and grazed in the neck

11 Joseph T. Foster[88]:63, ¶135[97] Private Shot in the hip

12
Amber Gadlin (formerly Amber
Bahr)[87][88]:63, ¶136[98] Private

13 Nathan Hewitt[88]:63, ¶137[89] Sergeant Shot twice in the leg

14 Alvin Howard[87] Sergeant Shot in the left shoulder

15 Najee M. Hull[88]:63, ¶138[92] Private Shot once in the knee and twice in the back

16 Eric Williams Jackson[99] Staff Sergeant Shot in the right arm

17 Justin T. Johnson[88]:64, ¶139[100] Private Shot once in the foot and twice in the back

18 Alonzo M. Lunsford, Jr[87][101] Staff Sergeant Grazed in the head, and shot twice in the stomach

19 Shawn N. Manning[88]:63, ¶141[102] Staff Sergeant
Grazed in the lower right side, and shot in the left
upper chest, left back, lower right thigh, upper
right thigh, and right foot

20 Paul Martin[93] Staff Sergeant Shot in the arm, leg, and back

21 Brandy Mason[92] 2nd Lieutenant Shot in the hip

22 Grant Moxon[89] Specialist Shot in the leg

23 Kimberly Munley[88]:72, ¶157[94] Civilian Police
Sergeant

Shot twice in the leg

24 John Pagel[103] Specialist
Shot through his left arm; bullet traveled into left
side of his chest

25
Dayna Ferguson
Roscoe[88]:66, ¶142[104] Specialist Shot in the arm, shoulder, and thigh

26
Christopher H.
Royal[88]:66, ¶143[89]

Chief Warrant
Officer

Started a nonprofit foundation called "32 Still
Standing" to raise money to support the
survivors.[105]

27 Randy Royer[106] Major Shot in the arm and leg
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Major Nidal Malik Hasan

28 Jonathan Sims[88]:66, ¶144[107] Specialist Shot in the chest, back

29
George O. Stratton,
III[88]:67, ¶145[89] Specialist Shot in the shoulder

30 Patrick Zeigler[93] Staff Sergeant
Shot in the left shoulder, left forearm, left hip, and
left side of head

31 Miguel A. Valdivia[88]:67, ¶146[108] Sergeant Shot in the right thigh and left hip

32 Thuan Nguyen[99] Staff Sergeant Shot in the thigh

Main article: Nidal Malik Hasan

During his court-martial on August 6, 2013 before a panel of 13 officers, Major

Nidal Malik Hasan declared that he was the shooter.[2] Hasan is unmarried and
was described as socially isolated. Born in the United States, Hasan is a
practicing Muslim who, according to one of his cousins, became more devout

after the deaths of his parents in 1998 and 2001.[109] His cousin did not recall

him ever expressing radical or anti-American views.[109] Another cousin, Nader
Hasan, a lawyer in Virginia, said that Nidal Hasan's opinion turned against the
United States wars in the Mideast after he heard stories from his patients, who

had returned from fighting in Afghanistan and Iraq.[110] Because of what Hasan
said was discrimination and his deepening anguish about serving in a military
that fought against Muslims, he told some members of his family that he wanted
to leave the military. He said that he could not, but he may have been given

inappropriate advice.[citation needed]

From 2003 to 2009, Hasan was stationed at Walter Reed Medical Center for his internship and residency; he
also had a two-year fellowship at USUHS completed in 2009. According to National Public Radio (NPR),
officials at Walter Reed Medical Center repeatedly expressed concern about Hasan's behavior during the entire
six years he was there; Hasan's supervisors gave him poor evaluations and warned him that he was doing
substandard work. In early 2008 (and on later occasions), several key officials met to discuss what to do about
Hasan. Attendees of these meetings reportedly included the Walter Reed chief of psychiatry, the chairman of
the USUHS Psychiatry Department, two assistant chairs of the USUHS Psychiatry Department (one of whom
was the director of Hasan's psychiatry fellowship), another psychiatrist, and the director of the Walter Reed
psychiatric residency program. According to NPR, fellow students and faculty were "deeply troubled" by

Hasan's behavior, which they described as "disconnected", "aloof", "paranoid", "belligerent" and "schizoid".[111]

Once, while presenting what was supposed to be a medical lecture to other psychiatrists, Hasan talked about
Islam, and said that, according to the Koran, non-believers would be sent to hell, decapitated, set on fire, and
have burning oil poured down their throats. A Muslim psychiatrist in the audience raised his hand, and

challenged Hasan's claims.[112] According to the Associated Press, Hasan's lecture also "justified suicide

bombings."[113] In the summer of 2009, after completion of his programs, he was transferred to Fort Hood.

At Fort Hood, Hasan rented an apartment away from other officers, in a somewhat rundown area.[114] Two days

before the shooting, Hasan gave away furniture from his home, saying he was going to be deployed.[114] He also
handed out copies of the Qur'an, along with his business cards, which gave a Maryland phone number and read
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Anwar al-Awlaki in 2008,

with whom Hasan

communicated in the months

prior to the shootings

"Behavioral Heatlh [sic] – Mental Health – Life Skills | Nidal Hasan, MD, MPH | SoA(SWT) | Psychiatrist".
[115][116] The cards did not reflect his military rank.

In May 2001, Hasan attended the funeral of his mother, held at the Dar Al-Hijrah mosque in Falls Church,
Virginia, which has 3,000 members. He may also have occasionally prayed there but, for a period of ten years,
he prayed several times a week at the Muslim Community Center in Silver Spring, Maryland, closer to where he

lived and worked. He was regularly seen there by the imam and other members.[117] His attendance at the Falls
Church mosque was in the same period as that of Nawaf al-Hazmi and Hani Hanjour, two of the hijackers in the

September 11 attacks, who went there from April 2001 to later in the summer.[118][119] A law enforcement

official said that the FBI will probably look into whether Hasan associated with the hijackers.[120] A review of
Hasan's computer and his e-mail accounts revealed he had visited radical Islamist, a senior law enforcement

official said.[121]

Hasan expressed admiration for the teachings of Anwar al-Awlaki, the imam at
the Dar al-Hijrah mosque in Falls Church, Virginia between 2000 and 2002.
Awlaki had been the subject of several FBI investigations, and had helped
hijackers al-Hazmi and Hanjour settle, and provided spiritual guidance to them
when they met him at the San Diego mosque, and after they drove to the east

coast.[122] Considered moderate then, Al-Awlaki appeared to become
radicalized after 2006 and was under surveillance. After Hasan wrote nearly 20
emails to him between December 2008 and June 2009, Hasan was investigated
by the FBI. The fact that Hasan had "certain communications" with the subject
of a Joint Terrorism Task Force investigation was revealed in an FBI press

release made on November 9, 2009,[123] and reporting by the media
immediately revealed that the subject was Awlaki and the communications were

emails.[124] In one, Hasan wrote: "I can't wait to join you" in the afterlife. Lt.
Col. Tony Shaffer, a military analyst at the Center for Advanced Defense
Studies, suggested that Hasan was "either offering himself up or [had] already

crossed that line in his own mind."[125]

Army employees were informed of the contacts at the time, but they believed
that the emails were consistent with Hasan's professional mental health research about Muslims in the armed

services, as part of his master's work in Disaster and Preventive Psychiatry.[126] A DC-based joint terrorism task
force operating under the FBI was notified, and the information reviewed by one of its Defense Criminal
Investigative Service (DCIS) employees, who concluded there was not sufficient information for a larger

investigation.[127] Higher-ups at the Department of Defense stated they were not notified of such investigations

before the shootings.[128]

Possible motives

Immediately after the shooting, analysts and public officials openly debated Hasan's motive and preceding
psychological state: a military activist, Selena Coppa, remarked that Hasan's psychiatrist colleagues "failed to

notice how deeply disturbed someone right in their midst was."[37] A spokesperson for U.S. Senator Kay Bailey

Hutchison, one of the first officials to comment on Hasan's background,[129] told reporters that Hasan was upset

about his pending deployment to Afghanistan on November 28.[58][130] Noel Hamad, Hasan's aunt,[131] said

that the family was not aware he was being sent to Afghanistan.[132]
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Nidal Malik Hasan

The Dallas Morning News reported on November 17 that ABC News, citing
anonymous sources, reported that investigators suspect that the shootings were
triggered by superiors' refusal to process Hasan’s requests that some of his
patients be prosecuted for war crimes based on statements they made during
psychiatric sessions with him. Dallas attorney Patrick McLain, a former Marine,
said that Hasan may have been legally justified in his request, but he could not
comment without knowing what soldiers had said. Fellow psychiatrists
complained to superiors that Hasan's actions violated doctor-patient

confidentiality.[133]

Duane Reasoner, a convert to Islam whom Hasan was mentoring in the religion,
said the psychiatrist did not want to be deployed. "'He said Muslims shouldn't be
in the U.S. military, because obviously Muslims shouldn't kill Muslims. He told

me not to join the Army.'"[117]

Senator Joe Lieberman called for a probe by the Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental
Affairs, which he chairs. Lieberman said "it's premature to reach conclusions about what motivated Hasan ... I
think it's very important to let the Army and the FBI go forward with this investigation before we reach any

conclusions."[134][135] Two weeks later, when opening his committee's hearings, Lieberman labeled the shooting

"the most destructive terrorist attack on America since September 11, 2001."[6]

Michael Welner, M.D., a leading forensic psychiatrist with experience examining mass shooters, said that the

shooting had elements common to both ideological and workplace mass shootings.[136] Welner, who believed
Hasan wanted to create a "spectacle", said that a trauma care worker, even under mental distress, would not
normally be expected to be homicidal toward his patients unless his ideology trumped his Hippocratic

oath–Welner thought Hasan expressed this in shouting, "Allahu Akhbar," as he shot unarmed men.[136] An
analyst of terror investigations, Carl Tobias, opined that the attack did not fit the profile of terrorism, and was

more similar to the Virginia Tech massacre, committed by a student believed to be severely mentally ill.[137]

Michael Scheuer, the retired former head of the Bin Laden Issue Station, and former U.S. Attorney General

Michael Mukasey[8] have called the event a terrorist attack,[137] as has the terrorism expert Walid Phares.[138]

Retired General Barry McCaffrey said on Anderson Cooper 360° that "it's starting to appear as if this was a
domestic terrorist attack on fellow soldiers by a major in the Army who we educated for six years while he was

giving off these vibes of disloyalty to his own force."[7]

Some of Hasan's former colleagues have said he performed substandard work and occasionally unnerved them

by expressing fervent Islamic views and deep opposition to the U.S.-led wars in Iraq and Afghanistan.[139]

Others were more concerned about his apparent mental instability and paranoid behaviors. Throughout his years
at Walter Reed, heads of departments had regularly discussed his mental state, as they were "deeply concerned"

about his behavior.[112]

Sgt. Fahad Kamal, 26, an Army combat medic and Muslim, said of the shooting: "It's not because he was

Muslim. It's because of his mental problems."[117]

Brian Levin of the Center for the Study of Hate and Extremism wrote that the case sits at the crossroads of

crime, terrorism and mental distress.[140] He compared the possible role of religion to the beliefs of Scott
Roeder, a Christian who murdered Dr. George Tiller, who practiced abortion. Such offenders "often
self-radicalize from a volatile mix of personal distress, psychological issues, and an ideology that can be sculpted
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to justify and explain their anti-social leanings."[140]

At his trial in June 2013, Hasan declared his motive as wanting to defend the lives of the Taliban leadership in

Afghanistan. Army prosecutors said that he sought to align himself with Islamic extremists.[141]

Hasan's description of motives

In August, 2013, Fox News released documents from Major Hasan in which he explained his motives. Most of
the documents included the acronym "SoA", which is considered shorthand for "Soldier of Allah." In one
document, Hasan wrote that he was required to renounce any oaths that required him to defend any man-made
constitution over the commandments mandated in Islam. In another document, he wrote "I invite the world to
read the book of All-Mighty Allah and decide for themselves if it is the truth from their Lord. My desire is to

help people attain heaven by the mercy of their Lord."[142]

In another document, Hasan wrote that there is a fundamental and irreconcilable conflict between American
democracy and Islamic governance. Specifically:

. . . in an American democracy, 'we the people' govern according to what 'we the people' think is
right or wrong, even if it specifically goes against what All-Mighty God commands.

He further explained that separation of Church and State is an unacceptable attempt to get along with
unbelievers, because "Islam was brought to prevail over other religions" and not to be equal with or subservient

to them.[142]

Many have characterized the attack as terrorism.[143] Two weeks after recommending no conclusions be drawn
until after the investigation was completed, Senator Joe Lieberman called the shooting "the most destructive
terrorist attack on America since September 11, 2001." Michael Scheuer, the retired former head of the Bin
Laden Issue Station, and former U.S. Attorney General Michael Mukasey also described it as a terrorist attack.
A group of soldiers and families have sought to have the defense secretary designate the shooting a "terrorist

attack;" this would provide them with benefits equal to injuries in combat.[143]

The FBI has found no evidence to indicate Hasan had any co-conspirators or was part of a broader terrorist plot,

and has not established his motives.[144] The Defense Department currently classifies Hasan's attack as an act of

workplace violence and will not make further statements until the court martial.[14][145]

President Obama

The U.S. President's initial response to the attack came during a scheduled speech at the Tribal Nations
Conference for America’s 564 federally recognized Native American tribes. Obama was criticized by the media
for being "insensitive", as he addressed the shooting only three minutes into his prepared speech, and then for

not according it sufficient gravitas.[146][147][148] Later, the President delivered the memorial eulogy for the

victims. Reaction to his memorial speech was largely positive, with some deeming it one of his best.[149][150]

The speech was criticized by a Wall Street Journal reporter, who found the speech largely absent of

emotion,[151] while a National Review columnist criticized Obama for refusing to acknowledge Islamic terrorism

as having a role in the shooting.[150][152]
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U.S. President Barack Obama at the

memorial service for the victims of the

shooting rampage

Army Secretary John McHugh and

Chief of Staff Gen. George W. Casey,

Jr. discussing the shooting at a press

conference at Fort Hood

Family members and troops attend a

memorial service honoring the victims

of the mass murder.

Fort Hood personnel

Retired Army colonel Terry Lee, who had worked with Hasan, said the
psychiatrist expressed the hope that Obama would withdraw U.S. troops
from Iraq and Afghanistan, and argued with military colleagues who

supported the wars.[153]

U.S. Government

A spokesman for the Defense Department called the shooting an

"isolated and tragic case",[154] and Defense Secretary Robert Gates
pledged that his department would do "everything in its power to help

the Fort Hood community get through these difficult times."[155] The
chair of the Senate Armed Services Committee, Carl Levin, and
numerous politicians, expressed condolences to the victims and their

families.[49][155][156][157]

Homeland Security Secretary Janet Napolitano stated "we object
to—and do not believe—that anti-Muslim sentiment should emanate
from this ... This was an individual who does not, obviously, represent

the Muslim faith."[158] Chief of Staff Gen. George W. Casey, Jr. said "I'm
concerned that this increased speculation could cause a backlash against
some of our Muslim soldiers ... Our diversity, not only in our Army, but
in our country, is a strength. And as horrific as this tragedy was, if our

diversity becomes a casualty, I think that’s worse."[159]

In January 2010, a senior Obama administration official, who declined to be named, referred to the shooting as
"an act of terrorism", however other administration officials have not referred to the shootings as a terrorist

event.[160]

Veteran groups

Veterans groups across the United States expressed condolences for
victims of the attack. American Legion National Commander Clarence
E. Hill stated, "The American Legion extends condolences to the victims

and the families of those affected by the shootings at Fort Hood."[161]

Veterans of Foreign Wars National Commander Thomas J. Tradewell Sr.
states, "The entire military family is grieving right now. I just want them
to know they do not grieve alone. Our hearts and prayers are with

them."[162]

Military policy on bases

The Army prohibits soldiers from carrying personal firearms inside Fort
Hood and other bases. Military weapons are used only for training or by

base security, and personal weapons were kept locked away by the provost marshal.[31] Specialist Jerry Richard,
a soldier working at the Readiness Center, said he felt this policy left the soldiers vulnerable to violent assaults:

"Overseas you are ready for it. But here you can't even defend yourself."[163] Jacob Sullum, an opponent of gun
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control, described the base as a "gun-free zone."[164]

Hasan's family

A spokesman for the Hasan family said the actions of their cousin were "despicable and deplorable", and do not

reflect how they were raised.[165][166][167][168]

American Muslim groups

The Council on American-Islamic Relations (CAIR) condemned the shooting and claimed that it was not in
keeping with Muslim teachings. The spokesman asked Americans to treat it as an "isolated incident of a
deranged individual." He alleged that disturbed individuals could use any religion for their own purposes, but the

Muslim community condemned this violence.[169][170]

Salman al-Ouda,[171] a dissident Saudi cleric and former inspiration to Osama bin Laden, condemned the
shooting, saying the incident would have bad consequences:

"...undoubtedly this man might have a psychological problem; he may be a psychiatrist but he [also]
might have had psychological distress, as he was being commissioned to go to Iraq or Afghanistan,
and he was capable of refusing to work whatever the consequences were." The senior analyst at the
NEFA Foundation described Ouda’s comments as "a good indication of how far on a tangent Anwar

al-Awlaki is."[172]

Anwar al-Awlaki

Main article: Anwar al-Awlaki

Soon after the attack, Anwar al-Awlaki posted praise for Hasan for the shooting on his website. He wrote,
"Nidal Hasan is a hero, the fact that fighting against the U.S. army is an Islamic duty today cannot be disputed.

Nidal has killed soldiers who were about to be deployed to Iraq and Afghanistan in order to kill Muslims."[173]

In March 2010, Al-Awlaki alleged that the Obama administration tried to portray Hasan's actions as an
individual act of violence from an estranged individual, and that it was trying to suppress information for the
American public. He said:

"Until this moment the administration is refusing to release the e-mails exchanged between myself
and Nidal. And after the operation of our brother Umar Farouk the initial comments coming from
the administration were looking the same – another attempt at covering up the truth. But Al Qaeda
cut off Obama from deceiving the world again by issuing their statement claiming responsibility for

the operation.[174]

(Note: The US investigation found no evidence that ties Hasan to al-Qaeda. See section below.)

On April 6, 2010, The New York Times reported that President Obama had authorized the targeted killing of

al-Awlaki, who had been hunted by the Yemen government since going into hiding.[175] On September 30, 2011,

two Predator drones fired missiles at a vehicle with al-Awlaki aboard, killing him and Samir Khan.[176][177]

2009 Fort Hood shooting - Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/2009_Fort_Hood_shooting

13 of 31 4/3/2014 3:12 PM



The American flag at Fort Hood,

Texas, flown at half-staff during a

memorial ceremony honoring the

victims of the mass shooting

The criminal investigation was conducted jointly by the FBI, the U.S.
Army Criminal Investigation Command, and the Texas Rangers

Division.[178] As a member of the military, Hasan is subject to the
jurisdiction of the Uniform Code of Military Justice (military law). He
was initially represented by Belton, Texas-based John P. Galligan, a

criminal defense attorney and retired US Army Colonel.[179] Hasan
regained consciousness on November 9, but refused to talk to

investigators.[180] The investigative officer in charge of his article 32
hearing was Colonel James L. Pohl, who had previously led the
investigation into the Abu Ghraib abuses, and is the Chief Presiding

Officer of the Guantanamo military commissions.[181]

On November 9, 2009, the FBI said that investigators believed Hasan
had acted alone. They disclosed that they had reviewed evidence which
included 2008 conversations with an individual that an official identified as Anwar al-Awlaki, but said they did

not find any evidence that Hasan had received orders or help from anyone.[182] According to a November 11
press release, after preliminary examination of Hasan’s computers and internet activity, they had found no
information to indicate he had any co-conspirators or was part of a broader terrorist plot, stressing the "early

stages" of the review.[178] They said no e-mail communications with outside facilitators or known terrorists were
found.

Investigators were evaluating reports that, in May 2001, Hasan had attended a mosque in Virginia for the funeral
of his mother, which was attended that spring and summer by two of the 9/11 hijackers. The imam was the

American cleric Anwar al-Awlaki, then considered a moderate.[citation needed] Awlaki has since been accused of
aiding the 9/11 plot and since 2006-2007 has been identified as radicalized. Investigators were trying to

determine if al-Awlaki's teachings influenced Hasan.[183] For ten years, Hasan prayed several times a week at
the Muslim Community Center in Silver Spring, Maryland, closer to where he lived and worked.

Army officials said, "Right now we're operating on the belief that he acted alone and had no help". No motive
for the shootings was offered, but they believed Hasan had written an Internet posting that appeared to support

suicide bombings.[184] Sen. Lieberman opined that Hasan was under personal stress and may have turned to

Islamic extremism.[184]

In pressing charges against Hasan, the Department of Defense and the DoJ agreed that Hasan would be
prosecuted in a military court. Observers noted this was consistent with investigators' concluding he had acted

alone.[124] During a November 21 hearing in Hasan's hospital room, a magistrate ruled that there was probable
cause that Hasan committed the November 5 shooting, and ordered that he be held in pre-trial confinement after

being released from hospital care.[158] On November 12 and December 2, respectively, Hasan was charged with
13 counts of premeditated murder and 32 counts of attempted murder by the Army; he may face additional

charges at court-martial.[12][13]

Prosecutors did not file a count for the death of the fetus of Francheska Velez.[185] Such a charge is available to
prosecutors under the Unborn Victims of Violence Act and Article 119a of the Uniform Code of Military

Justice.[186] If civilian prosecutors indicted him for being part of a terrorist plot, it could have justified moving

all or part of his case into federal criminal courts under U.S. anti-terrorism laws.[187][188] The military justice

system rarely carries out capital punishment—and no executions have been carried out since 1961.[188][189]

Neither has any incident of mass murder been prosecuted by the military since then. (From 1916 to 1961, the
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U.S. Army executed 135 people.)[190]

Trial

In late January 2011, Hasan was judged sane for trial by an Army sanity board, normally composed of doctors

and psychologists.[40] This allowed a capital trial. More information about his mental state at the time of the

shootings can be introduced by the defense during the trial.[40]

He was formally arraigned on July 20, 2011.[191] He did not enter a plea, and the judge granted a request by
Hasan's attorneys that a plea be entered at a later, unspecified, date. The judge initially set a trial date for Maj.

Hasan's court-martial for March 5, 2012.[192] Later, the court-martial date was pushed back after Hasan

switched lawyers, to provide them time to prepare his defense.[193]

Having previously instructed Hasan to follow Army regulations and shave a beard he had grown, the judge,
Colonel Gregory Gross, found him in contempt in July 2012 and fined him. His court-martial was set to begin on

August 20, 2012.[194] He was fined again for retaining his beard, and warned that he could be forcibly shaved

prior to his court-martial.[195]

On August 15, Hasan was scheduled to enter pleas to the charges brought against him before the beginning of
the court-martial; he would not be allowed to plead guilty to the premeditated murder charges as the prosecution

is pursuing the death penalty in his case.[196] Hasan objected to being shaved against his will, and his attorney's
appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces. Hasan said having a beard was part of his

religious belief.[197]

On August 27, the Appeals Court announced that the trial could continue, but did not rule whether Hasan could
be forcibly shaved. The Appeals court has rejected previous attempts by Hasan to receive "religious

accommodation" from Army Regulation to wear his beard.[198] On September 6, Gross ordered that Hasan be
shaved after it was determined that the 1993 Religious Freedom Restoration Act did not apply to this case;

however, it will not be enforced until his appeals are exhausted, further delaying the trial.[199][200]

During the hearing on September 6, 2012, Hasan twice offered to plead guilty; however, Army rules prohibit the

judge from accepting a guilty plea in a death penalty case.[200] On September 21, defense attorneys of Hasan

filed two appeals with the Army Court of Criminal Appeals regarding his beard, postponing the trial.[201]

Residents of Killeen were upset about the delays in going to trial.[202]

In mid-October, the Army Court of Criminal Appeals upheld Colonel Gross' decision that Hasan can be forcibly

shaved.[203] Hasan's attorneys filed an appeal to the Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces seeking to overturn

the lower court, and to have Gross removed.[204]

On Tuesday, December 4, 2012, the Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces vacated Major Hasan's six
convictions for contempt of court and removed the judge, Colonel Gregory Gross, from the case, stating he had
not shown the requisite impartiality. The Court of Appeals overturned an order to have Hasan's beard be

forcibly shaven; it did not rule on whether Hasan's religious rights had been violated.[205][206] The Court of
Appeals additionally ruled that it was the military command's responsibility, not the military judge, to ensure

Hasan meet grooming standards.[207] The Army's Judge Advocate General appointed a new judge to replace

Gross.[208] The ruling was called "unusual" by Jeffrey Addicott of the Center for Terrorism Law at St. Mary's

University, and called "rare" by military defense attorney Frank Spinner.[208]
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Colonel Tara A. Osborn was appointed as the new judge for the trial on the same day that Gross was

removed.[209] In 2011 Osborn presided over a death penalty case, the court martial of SGT Joseph Bozicevich,
who was sentenced to life in prison without possibility of parole for killing his squad leader and another

soldier.[210] In January 2013, Osborn was deliberating whether to remove the death penalty, due to the Defense
attorney's claim that LTG Campbell was not impartial when it was decided that Hasan would face the death

penalty.[211][212] On January 31, Osborn ruled that a capital murder trial was constitutional, based on a 1996
Supreme Court case regarding Dwight J. Loving; Osborn additionally ruled that her court does not have

jurisdiction regarding Hasan's beard, and it is a matter to take up with Hasan's chain of command.[213] As of
February 28, 2013, the court-martial is set to start in May 29, 2013, with jury selection to begin on July 1,

2013.[214]

On June 3, 2013, a military judge gave approval for Hasan to represent himself at his upcoming murder trial. His
attorneys will remain on the case but only if he asks for their help. Jury selection started on June 5 and opening

arguments took place on August 6.[215][216] U.S. Army Judge Colonel Tara Osborn ruled on June 14, 2013 that

Hassan cannot claim as a part of his defense that he was defending the Taliban.[217] The trial is scheduled to

begin on August 6.[218] During an exclusive interview with Fox News, Hasan justified his actions during the Fort

Hood shooting by claiming that the US military was at war with Islam.[219] This marked the first occasion that
Hasan had talked to American media since his arrest. In the past, Hasan has only spoken via telephone with

Al-Jazeera.[218]

During the first day of the trial on August 6, Hasan—who was representing himself— admitted that he was the
gunman during the Fort Hood shootings in 2009 and stated that the evidence would show that he was the
shooter. He also told the panel hearing that he had "switched sides" and regarded himself as a Mujahideen

waging "jihad" against the United States.[220] By August 7, disagreements between Hasan and his stand-by
defense team led Judge Osborn to suspend the proceedings. Hassan's defense attorneys were concerned that his
defense strategy would lead to him receiving the death penalty. Since the prosecution has sought the death

penalty, his defense team has sought to prevent this.[221]

Conviction

On August 23, 2013, he was convicted on all charges after the jury deliberated for seven hours.[222]

Sentencing

On August 28, 2013, a U.S. military court sentenced him to death for the shootings. At the time of his sentencing

he became only the 6th person on military death row.[223]

Internal investigations

Main article: Joint Terrorism Task Force

The FBI noted that Hasan had first been brought to their attention in December 2008 by a Joint Terrorism Task
Force (JTTF). Communications between Hasan and al-Awlaki, and other similar communications, were
reviewed and considered to be consistent with Hasan's professional research at the Walter Reed Medical Center.
"Because the content of the communications was explainable by his research and nothing else derogatory was

found, the JTTF concluded that Major Hasan was not involved in terrorist activities or terrorist planning."[124]
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On December 2009, FBI Director Robert Mueller appointed William Webster, a former director of the FBI, to
establish a commission to conduct an independent review of the FBI's handling of assessing the risk that Hasan

posed.[224]

On January 15, 2010, the Department of Defense released the findings of its investigation, which found that the
Department was unprepared to defend against internal threats. Secretary Robert Gates said that previous
incidents had not drawn enough attention to workplace violence and "self-radicalization" within the military. He
also suggested that some officials may be held responsible for not drawing attention to Hasan prior to the

shooting.[225] The Department report did not touch upon Hasan's motives.[226]

James Corum, a retired Army Reserve Lieutenant Colonel and Dean at the Baltic Defence College in Estonia,
called the Defense Department report "a travesty", for failing to mention Hasan's devotion to Islam and his

radicalization.[227] Texas Representative John Carter criticized the report, saying he felt the government was

"afraid to be accused of profiling somebody".[228] John Lehman, a member of the 9/11 Commission and
Secretary of the Navy under Ronald Reagan, said he felt that the report "shows you how deeply entrenched the

values of political correctness have become."[226] The columnist Debra Saunders of the San Francisco
Chronicle wrote in an opinion piece: "Even ... if the report's purpose was to craft lessons to prevent future

attacks, how could they leave out radical Islam?"[229]

The leaders of the investigation, former Secretary of the Army Togo West and retired Admiral Vernon Clark,
responded by saying their "concern is with actions and effects, not necessarily with motivations", and that they

did not want to conflict with the criminal investigation on Hasan that was under way.[226]

In February 2010, the Boston Globe obtained a confidential internal report detailing results of the Army's
investigation. According to the Globe, the report concluded that officers within the Army were aware of Hasan's
tendencies toward radical Islam since 2005. It noted one incident in 2007 in which Hasan gave a classroom
presentation titled, "Is the War on Terrorism a War on Islam: An Islamic Perspective". The instructor reportedly
interrupted Hasan, as he thought the psychiatrist was trying to justify terrorism, according to the Globe. Hasan's
superior officers took no action related to this incident, believing Hasan's comments were protected under the
First Amendment and that having a Muslim psychiatrist contributed to diversity. The report noted that Hasan's
statements might have been grounds for removing him from service, as the First Amendment did not apply to

soldiers in the same way as for civilians.[230]

In July 2012, the Webster Commission's final report was submitted.[63][231] Webster made 18 recommendations

to the FBI.[232] The report found issues in information sharing, failure to follow up on leads, computer
technology issues, and failure of the FBI headquarters to coordinate two field offices working on leads related to

Hasan.[233]

In August 2013, Mother Jones magazine described multiple intercepted emails from Hasan to Awlaki. In one
2008 email, Hasan asked Awlaki whether he considered those who died attacking their fellow soldiers
"Shaheeds", or martyrs. In a 2009 email, Hasan asked Awlaki whether "indiscriminately killing civilians" was
allowed. Both emails were forwarded to the Defense Criminal Investigative Services (DCIS). However, DCIS
failed to connect the two emails to each other, and the 2008 email was given only a cursory investigation. A

DCIS agent later explained that the subject was "politically sensitive".[234]

A lawsuit filed in November 2011 by victims and their family members alleges that the government's failure to
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take action against Hasan before the attack was willful negligence prompted by "political correctness." The 83

claimants seek $750 million in compensation from the Army.[235]

As of 2012, the Department of Defense classifies the case as one of workplace violence. A spokesman for the
Department stated,

"The Department of Defense is committed to the integrity of the ongoing court martial proceedings
of Major Nadal Hassan and for that reason will not further characterize, at this time, the incident
that occurred at Fort Hood on November 5, 2009. Major Hassan has been charged with 13 counts
of premeditated murder, and 32 counts of attempted murder. As with all pending UCMJ matters, the

accused is innocent until proven guilty."[14]

A group of 160 victims and family members have asked the government to declare the Fort Hood attack an act
of terrorism, which would mean that injuries would be treated as if the victims were in a combat zone, providing

them more benefits.[14] US Representatives John R. Carter and Michael T. McCaul wrote, "Based on all the
facts, it is inconceivable to us that the DOD and the Army continue to label this attack ‘workplace violence’ in

spite of all the evidence that clearly proves the Fort Hood shooting was an act of terror."[14] Carter and McCaul

drew their conclusions from their interpretation of existing investigations.[14]

On November 5, 2012, 148 plaintiffs, including victims and families of victims, filed a wrongful death claim
against the United States Government, Hasan, and the estate of Anwar al-Awlaki. Their lawsuit alleges there
were due process violations, intentional misrepresentation, assault and battery, gross negligence, and civil

conspiracy.[236][237]

The lawsuit was featured on ABC News on February 12, 2013, with Kimberly Munley stating that Obama has

not kept his promise of taking care of the victims of the shooting.[238][239][240]

1991 Luby's massacre – another infamous mass
shooting near Fort Hood
1995 William Kreutzer, Jr. case – convicted of
killing an officer and wounding 17 other soldiers
at Fort Bragg, North Carolina
2003 Hasan Akbar case – convicted of murder
of two officers at Camp Pennsylvania, Kuwait
2005 Deaths of Phillip Esposito and Louis Allen
- Staff Sergeant Alberto Martinez was charged
and subsequently acquitted of murdering his
commander and another officer in Tikrit, Iraq.
2009 Camp Liberty killings – Sgt. John M.
Russell charged with five counts of murder and
one count of aggravated assault for attack at
Camp Liberty, Iraq

2009 Little Rock recruiting office shooting –
Major Hasan was "happy" about Abdulhakim
Mujahid Muhammad drive-by shooting of two
soldiers.
2009 Lloyd R. Woodson case – arrested with
military-grade illegal weapons and a detailed
map of the Fort Drum military installation
2013 Chris Kyle – murder of celebrated Iraq
sniper with no established motive by Marine
said to suffer from PTSD
2013 Washington Navy Yard shooting - mass
shooting at Marine base.
2014 Fort Hood shooting – another mass
shooting at Fort Hood with four people dead and
14 others wounded
Capital punishment by the United States military
List of massacres in the United States
Naser Jason Abdo
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